FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 12/7/2023 12:38 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/8/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102627-7

Washington Supreme Court

Supreme Court Docket No.

Division II Docket No. 56949-3-II

Wahkiakum Cy. Sup. Ct. Cause No. 21-1-00038-35

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-against-

JENNIFER A. RICHARDS,

Defendant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

ADAM P. KARP, ESQ. ANIMAL LAW OFFICES, PLLC *Attorney for Petitioner Richards* 114 W. Magnolia St., Ste. 400-104 Bellingham, WA 98225 (888) 430-0001 WSBA No. 28622

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Thor, a male Husky mix, who also serves as an emotional support animal for single mother Jennifer A. Richards's disabled minor daughter, was declared potentially dangerous under Wahkiakum County Code on 6.18.18 for allegedly biting another dog named Fritz on the property adjacent to Richards. About one year later, on 5.2.19, the County declared Thor dangerous under Wahkiakum County Code for having again allegedly bitten Fritz. At no point was Thor ever declared dangerous under State code, RCW 16.08.070(2), nor declared potentially dangerous or dangerous under County code for having injured, bitten, or endangered any human.

On 9.12.20, following what the trial court stated it "underst[ood], accept[ed], and believe[d]" was a valid explanation of events (**CP 83 [VRP 55:9-10]**), Thor was temporarily outside Richards's home, never leaving Richards's property, but not under physical restraint. Due to significant

2

breathing problems, exacerbated by the fires, Richards's daughter needed a nebulizer from the pharmacy prior to its closing that evening. Richards raced there but accidentally left Thor on the porch unattended. He did not bite or injure any person or animal during this brief frolic. **CP 77-79 [VRP 49:9**—**51:24].** As a result of this negligible indiscretion, Richards faced a single count of dangerous dog at-large in violation of RCWC 16.08.050(F), RCW 16.08.100(1)(d), RCWC 16.08.090(B), and RCW 9A.20.021. **CP 252** (*Criminal Complaint*); **CP 241** (*Amended Criminal Complaint*).

RCWC 16.**0**8.**0**5**0**(F) states:

It is unlawful for an owner of a dangerous dog to permit the dog to be outside the proper enclosure unless the dog is muzzled and restrained by a substantial chain or leash and under physical restraint of a responsible person. The muzzle shall be made in a manner that will not cause injury to the dog or interfere with its vision or respiration but shall prevent it from biting any person or animal.

RCWC 16.08.090(B), the enforcement section, provides that any

person violating RCWC 16.08.050 is "subject to the

punishments prescribed by Chapter 16.08 of the Revised Code of Washington, as now or hereafter amended." The *Criminal Complaints* against Richards reference RCW 16.08.100(1) and (1)(d), which state one is guilty of a gross misdemeanor if a dangerous dog (as defined by State, not County, code – see RCW 16.08.070's preface¹) is not outside the dwelling or proper enclosure. It provides that, even if in violation, the owner has 20 days to correct the deficiency before euthanasia:

(1) Any **dangerous dog** shall be immediately confiscated by an animal control authority if the: (a) Dog is not validly registered under RCW 16.08.080; (b) owner does not secure the liability insurance coverage required under RCW 16.08.080; (c) dog is not maintained in the proper enclosure; or (d) dog is outside of the dwelling of the owner, or outside of the proper enclosure and not under physical restraint of the responsible person. The owner must pay the costs of confinement and control. The animal control authority must serve notice upon the dog owner in person or by regular and certified mail, return receipt requested, specifying the reason for the confiscation of the dangerous dog, that the owner is responsible for payment of the costs of confinement

¹ "Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, the definitions in this Section apply through RCW 16.08.070 through 16.08.100," viz., RCW 16.08.100(1). RCW 16.08.070.

and control, and that the dog will be destroyed in an expeditious and humane manner if the deficiencies for which the dog was confiscated are not corrected within twenty days. The animal control authority shall destroy the confiscated dangerous dog in an expeditious and humane manner if any deficiencies required by this subsection are not corrected within twenty days of notification. In addition, the owner shall be guilty of a gross misdemeanor punishable in accordance with RCW <u>9A.20.021</u>.

RCW 16.08.100(1) (emphasis added). No notice of correction was given to Richards, and no 20-day period has elapsed but, regardless, Richards instantly complied and ensured that Thor would not leave his proper enclosure.

After the 9.12.20 incident, Thor was not seized by law enforcement, but allowed to remain at Richards's household with her minor disabled daughter. **CP 157-158 ¶¶ 2-3** (*Richards Decl.*); **CP 116** (*Jain Decl.*) There have been no alleged incidents involving Thor for over three years since the date of incident and he was fully compliant with Wahkiakum County dangerous dog registration requirements (WCSO Reg. No. WA03518). **CP 158 ¶ 4**.

A "dangerous dog" under <u>State law</u> is:

any dog that (a) inflicts severe injury on a human being without provocation on public or private property, (b) kills a domestic animal without provocation while the dog is off the owner's property, or (c) has been previously found to be potentially dangerous because of injury inflicted on a human, the owner having received notice of such and the dog again aggressively bites, attacks, or endangers the safety of humans.

RCW 16.08.070(2).

Under <u>County code</u>, by contrast, a dog is dangerous if it:

according to the records of the appropriate authority: (a) has inflicted severe injury upon a human being without provocation on public or private property, (b) has killed a domestic animal without provocation while off the owner's property, or (c) has been previously found to be potentially dangerous, the owner having received notice of such and the dog again aggressively bites, attacks or endangers the safety of humans or domestic animals.

RCWC 16.08.010 (Dangerous Dog).

A key departure from State law is part (c), in that the County code <u>deletes</u> the State predicate "*because of injury inflicted on a human*" and <u>adds</u> "*or domestic animals*." In Thor's case, the first incident involved a dog and the second (the one that resulted in him being declared dangerous) also a dog, meaning he was not dangerous as a matter of State law. Accordingly, Richards was not "subject to any punishment prescribed by Ch. 16.08 RCW." Had Thor met the definition of "dangerous" under State law, then she would properly be subject to a gross misdemeanor (provided all other elements were satisfied). However, at best she faces, for sake of argument, a Class 1 civil infraction per RCWC 16.08.090(C).

On 9.28.21, Richards was convicted on stipulated facts (CP 276-282), but she maintains that those facts still fail to state a crime and, in any event, result from application of an unconstitutional dangerous dog rubric. Following conviction, Richards moved to stay sentence under RCW 9.95.062 and RALJ 4.3(b). At that time, Thor had presented no threat to anyone for over a year and the condition of proper confinement had been remedied without incident. Even the prosecutor Daniel Bigelow acknowledged that a stay would not "diminish the deterrent

7

effect of the punishment" and further stated "this [is] not a case with a dog that has been out since, that has been terrorizing the neighborhood since," adding that what he was asking "is not something that really fits as well under deterrence as it does under what deterrence is supposed to serve: security." CP 69 [VRP 41:8-10, 19-25]. Despite knowing that an appeal was going to be filed immediately, and the prosecutor's remarks, the trial court refused to grant stay. CP 68 [VRP 40:18—41:5].

Furthering this mindset, though the prosecutor sought no jail time or fine *per se* (except as leverage to procure the release and death of Thor), the district court imposed what was misnomered a "suspended sentence" and amounted to 364 days in jail without suspension on 9.28.21, but provided that if Thor were delivered by 9.29.21, the 364 days would "re-suspend." **CP 271-272 (Exh. B).** Richards should never have been ordered to remand herself to jail the next afternoon without being given a revocation hearing, and lost the due process that attaches whenever a court seeks to unsuspend a sentence. Instead, the

8

court made sure Richards would face the full brunt of the unsuspended sentence for as long as she refused to give up Thor, suffering a more severe escalating penalty with each day of her recalcitrance. CP 176-178, CP 81-85, 88-90 [VRP 53:14—57:17, 60:2—62:1].

The prosecutor bemoaned:

I'm sorry. I'm very sorry. I didn't get into this job to kill dogs. But this is what needs to happen and this is how to make it happen.

CP 66 [VRP 38:20-21]. The court acknowledged, "*The reason* to stay, obviously, is you can't un-kill a dog if something is reversed." **CP 70 [VRP 42:17-18]**. Alas, this was not the first time the trial judge considered a jail time-or-your-dog sentence. The prosecutor noted this was the "second, closely-aligned dangerous dog case that we've been dealing with lately, and they are both cases in which much of the same argument applies." **CP 64 [VRP 36:4-8]**. Bigelow urged the court to "do what it's done previously," but noting that "in the past," because "it was more urgent," unlike in this case where Thor "has not

been out since," to:

remand to jail for the maximum amount of time; a fine for the maximum amount of money, to be converted into the maximum amount of time, all to serve until Thor is mercifully put down by a professional at the Humane Society.

CP 65 [VRP 37:25-38:8]. Despite sympathizing with

Richards, the court sided with the prosecutor:

These cases are always extremely difficult, and just like the Prosecutor doesn't want to be in the position of having to make recommendations that are overwhelmingly likely to result in destruction of a dog, nor does this Court like to have to make decisions that ultimately, as a practical matter, really are a death sentence for an animal.

CP 81 [VRP 53:15-22].

The Court takes absolutely zero pleasure in this. I know you love your dog. I know your boyfriend loves your dog and I am ... I know your daughter must be very, very bonded to him...

CP 91 [VRP 63:5-23].

The court's rationale for ordering his death was that

Richards had allegedly not complied with dangerous dog

conditions that, incidentally, *did not* form the basis of the criminal charge. It maintained its sentence despite Richards pleading with the court that she was prepared to register Thor that very day, adding that if it needed to happen, "*we can do that*," explaining she had:

been kind of holding out hope that if I got an attorney that we could kind of re-visit the cases in which he was declared a dangerous animal and re-look at the facts, since it was that he was provoked in the first place....

CP 80 [**VRP 52:5**—**53:13**]. Alas, despite even the prosecutor confirming no incidents since September 2020, that the incident giving rise to the charge involved no bite, no injury, nor Thor leaving Richards's premises; and that confinement concerns had been rectified, the court did not relent or even contemplate for a moment ordering Richards to come into full registration within a reasonable amount of time and, failing that, imposing jail time or fines or confiscation.

Faced with the Sophie's Choice of turning in her beloved emotional support animal to be killed, or herself into jail for a year, thus orphaning her disabled daughter, Richards was coerced by the district court for no imminent reason, in an exceptionally draconian, cruel, and unusual manner, particularly where the County did not see fit to even confiscate Thor a year prior. On 9.29.21, the superior court commissioner stayed sentence pending RALJ appeal. On 5.13.22, Wahkiakum County Superior Court Judge Donald J. Richter affirmed. CP 117-135. Richards timely sought discretionary review by the Court of Appeals. On 8.29.22, Commissioner Aurora R. Bearse granted discretionary review under RAP 2.3(d)(2) and (3) and RAP 2.3(e) as to all issues raised. And on 11.7.23, the Court of Appeals vacated the sentence (remanding for resentencing), found no basis for conviction under RCW 16.08.100(1), and affirmed on other bases. This petition for review follows.

V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> ACCEPTED

1. <u>RAP 13.4(b)(2) – Conflict with Court of App</u>eals

The district and superior court decisions conflict with appellate precedents concerning lenity, including *City of Seattle v. Winebrenner*, 167 Wn.2d 451, 462 (2009), which held that an ambiguous statute should be interpreted in favor of the defendant absent legislative intent to the contrary, and that an ambiguous criminal statute cannot be interpreted to increase penalty imposed, which was done in Richards's case. Richards looks to the charging document as the predictable starting point and, from there, the precise language of RCWC 16.08.050(F) and 16.08.090(B). Standing alone, RCWC 16.08.050(F) does not state that failure to keep a County-defined "dangerous dog" within the proper enclosure unless muzzled and restrained is a crime; rather, it makes such conduct "unlawful." To determine whether such transgression is, indeed, criminal, one must turn to RCWC 16.08.090(B), which states that a person violating any part of RCWC 16.08.050 is "subject to the punishments prescribed by Chapter 16.08 of the Revised Code of Washington, as now or hereafter amended." Where the person is not, RCWC

16.08.090(C) deems such "unlawful" behavior a Class 1 Civil Infraction. RCWC 16.08.050(F) must be read with RCWC 16.08.090.

Richards is making two related, but distinct, arguments: (1) because both charging documents and RCWC 16.08.090(B) expressly adopt prescribed elements of State law ("subject to the punishments prescribed"²), and because the stipulated facts do not encompass every one of those prescribed elements, no crime has been committed; also, (2) even if the court finds that State law adds no elements, no penalty exists because none of the prescribed punishments applies and, thus, a crime without a penalty is no crime at all. One cannot uncouple County code from State law since, as enacted and as charged, State law is integral to both violation and punishment. Any structural ambiguity counsels for lenity.

² "Prescribe" is defined, in its transitive form, as "to lay down as a guide, direction, or rule of action; to specify with authority." Merriam-webster.com/dictionary/prescribe (accessed 12.27.21).

The County dodges the conclusion that Richards did not violate, as charged, RCW 16.08.100(1)(d), if only because Thor is not "dangerous" under State law. Nor can the County refute that Richards could never be punished under RCW 16.08.100(1), for Richards never enjoyed the statutory prerequisites to conviction/punishment of the 20-day notice and opportunity to purge default within that time period. If an only if both the written notice and opportunity to cure have been provided, then, upon failure to cure, a gross misdemeanor arises.³ Otherwise, no punishment is "prescribed," and, it follows, no crime exists under RCWC 16.08.090(B). Any ambiguity construes in Richards's favor, relegating this to at best a civil infraction.

2. <u>RAP 13.4(b)(3) – Significant Constitutional Issues</u>

On 8.29.22, Court of Appeals Comm. Bearse found that Richards raised significant questions of constitutional law of the

³ "In addition [meaning, if the deficiencies are not corrected within 20 days], the owner shall be guilty of a gross misdemeanor punishable in accordance with RCW 9A.20.021." RCW 16.08.100(1), 5th cl.

type the Supreme Court has taken review of before. RAP 2.3(d)(2); Order Granting Disc. Rev., at 9-10.

The definition of "dangerous dog" under county code differs from State law in many material ways. While the County is free to invoke more severe penalties related to keeping dangerous dogs than those prescribed by state law, that only applies to dogs who actually meet the State definition of "dangerous dog," unlike here. While RCW 16.08.080(6) and (9) state that localities may impose more restrictive code requirements on dangerous dogs, including banishing them entirely, the threshold determination of whether a dog is "dangerous" is not subject to alteration at the municipal level, for the phrase "dangerous dogs" has been explicitly defined by the state legislature. RCW 16.08.070. In adopting precisely the same nomenclature, even incorporating by reference Ch. 16.08 RCW, and, further, citing RCW 16.08.100(1) and RCW 16.08.100(d) explicitly in the original and amended *Criminal Complaints*, the County is bound by the state-set definition.

If and only if the County proves that Thor met the state definition prior to the date of incident may the County charge the crime of RCW 16.08.100(1)(d) via RCWC 16.08.080(F) and impose any criminal penalty under RCWC 16.08.090(B), RCW 16.08.100(1), and RCW 9A.20.021. Any other interpretation would render the State dangerous dog code hortatory, allowing localities to thwart statutory registration, confiscation, and euthanasia mandates, on the one hand, and also to overreach by imposing any restriction, including banishment and death, upon a dog who meets its own home-grown definition. Such practice violates Washington Constitution, Article XI, § 11, which states:

> [a]ny county, city, town or township may make and enforce within its limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws.

Unconstitutional conflict exists where an ordinance permits what state law forbids, or prohibits what state law permits. *Trimen Dev. Co. v. King County*, 124 Wn.2d 261, 269 (1994). The County code conflicts with state law in three ways: (1) prohibiting what State law permits (i.e., criminalizing nondangerous dogs running at-large); (2) thwarting the legislative purpose of the statutory scheme, and (3) exercising power the scheme did not confer on local governments. *Department of Ecology v. Wahkiakum Cy.*, 184 Wash.App. 372, 378 (2014).

The Court of Appeals embraced *Rabon v. City of Seattle* ("*Rabon II*"), 135 Wn.2d 278 (1998) to deny Richards's appeal as to conviction under county code. In *Rabon II*, Wilton Rabon's Lhasa Apsos, Word and Parsheba, were impounded multiple times for multiple bites to humans. Neither dog was administratively declared vicious. Instead, Rabon criminally charged with four counts of owning a vicious dog in violation of SMC 9.25.083, for which he was convicted. In 2000, Seattle created the "potentially dangerous animal" designation (SMC 9.25.023(C)) and repealed the "vicious" label of SMC 9.25.024. In 2003, it repealed "potentially dangerous animal," leaving just "dangerous." To be clear: though Word and Parsheba were never

actually declared *dangerous*, their actions fell within the definition of *dangerous*.⁴

In adjudicating whether the City could impose greater restrictions on dogs satisfying the definition of dangerous, the court assumed that the vicious label affixed to Word and Parsheba met the "dangerous" definition of RCW 16.08.070(2). Rabon reasoned that "vicious" equated with "dangerous" as applied to Word and Parsheba and that by falling within the definition of "dangerous" under State law, both dogs found refuge from the City's lethal injection. On the contrary, Richards contends that the County's definition of "dangerous" in no way resembles or mirrors "dangerous" under State law, on its face and certainly as applied to Thor, and that because he falls outside the definition of "dangerous" under State law, the County has no right to subject Thor to the State dangerous dog restrictions under RCW 16.08.080(6) and RCW 16.08.090(1),

⁴ *Rabon*, 300 (Sanders, J., dissenting) ("First, applying state law, the dogs would likely have been classified as 'dangerous,' not 'potentially dangerous."")

nor may the County invoke RCW 16.08.080(9) as an excuse to impose additional restrictions including banishment or death.

The question before the Supreme Court was whether the City must allow registration of dogs who meet the definition of "dangerous" instead of banishing or killing them. While it is true that Richards is asking to compare the County against State definitions, Rabon did not examine or even contemplate whether the City could change the definition. Rather, it assumed equivalency as applied to Rabon, thereby permitting the City to impose more significant restrictions than otherwise permitted under State law for dogs meeting the definition of "dangerous." The legislature explicitly made the term "dangerous" applicable to RCW 16.08.070-100, such that RCW 16.08.080(9)'s allowing cities to impose additional restrictions upon owners of "dangerous dogs" and not to allow a "dangerous dog" within its borders only applied where the subject dog actually met the State definition of "dangerous dog." The Supreme Court did not reason that because Word and Parsheba were not dangerous

20

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