FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/28/2023 1:16 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Washington Supreme Court

Supreme Court Docket No. 102627-7

Division II Docket No. 56949-3-II

Wahkiakum County Superior Court No. 21-1-00014-35

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

JENNIFER RICHARDS, Defendant-Appellant

#### RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT

Daniel H. Bigelow WSBA No. 21227 Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 397 Wahkiakum County Courthouse Cathlamet, WA 98612 (360)795-3652

## **

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

### V. Argument Why Review Should Not Be Accepted

### 1. RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2)

Richards make an argument headed by a citation to RAP 13.4(b)(2), regarding conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals, but the only authority she cites is a case from this court: Seattle v. Winebrenner, 167 Wn.2d 451, 219 P.3d 686 (2009). The gist of the argument appears to be that because there are Court of Appeals (and Supreme Court) decisions regarding the rule of lenity, and the Court of Appeals did not agree that the rule applied, either or

both of RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) are automatically satisfied. But this does not appreciate the gravamen of RAP 13.4(b).

It is a trivial truth that if a lower court makes an incorrect decision about a rule of law that has previously been the subject of a decision of this court, that court has made an *erroneous* decision. That should not be conflated with the proposition that any incorrect decision about a rule that has been the subject of a decision of this court has *conflicted* with the court's previous decision. A court decides a case by applying a proposition of law to a set of facts. The art of most legal work is to determine whether a previous decision is similar enough in fact and law that it should govern the decision in the current case.

For instance, in <u>Hoflin v. Ocean Shores</u>, 121 Wn.2d 113, 847 P.2d 428 (1993), the state invoked RAP 13.4(b)(1) as

a ground for review of a decision regarding a matter of just cause for termination. Id., 121 Wn.2d at 125. The inquiry focused on, not just what the rule for just cause was, but whether decisions previously made were binding or distinguishable: e.g., whether the definition of "just cause" used in Danielson v. Seattle, 108 Wn.2d 788, 742 P.2d 717 (1987), was applicable to public-employment cases or only private employment. Hoflin, supra, 121 Wn.2d at 128. See also Buchsieb/Danard, Inc. v. Skagit Cty., 99 Wn.2d 577, 580, 663 P.2d 487, 489 (1983), in which this court granted review not because of a potential conflict with a rule, but one between cases. "In the present case we granted discretionary review for consideration of the Court of Appeals decision in light of Norco Constr., Inc. v. King Cy., supra. RAP 13.4(b)(1)." Buschseib/Danard,

supra, citing Norco Constr. v. King County, 97 Wn.2d680, 649 P.2d 103 (1982).

Here, the court will find no conflict between the divisions regarding what the rule of lenity is. Nor has Ms. Richards shown the court a case on the rule of lenity that could be called controlling under the circumstances, except insofar as such case correctly states what the rule of lenity is. Nor is there any allegation that any lower court at any time in this case misstated the rule of lenity, much less applied an erroneous version of it.

Ms. Richards misapprehends the error RAP 13.4(b)(1) was designed to capture. If an application of the rule of lenity is erroneous and results in a constitutional injustice, or simply raises an issue of substantial public interest, this court certainly has the power to accept this case. But not

because this rule of procedure supports acceptance. This rule does not apply.

### 2. RAP 13.4(b)(3)

Ms. Richards alleges a "significant constitutional issue" pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3). She identifies that issue as pre-emption: the constitutional provision of Art. XI, §11, authorizing municipalities police power but only insofar as their regulations do not conflict with the general law of the state. Brief, 19. The citation identifies an issue, but Ms. Richards struggles to establish that issue's *significance* in light of the fact that the court addressed identical issues a quarter century ago in Rabon v. City of Seattle, 135 Wn.2d 278, 957 P.2d 621 (1998). Every court down the line, from the district court, through the superior court, to the Court

of Appeals, has found this court's ruling in Rabon controlling.

Ms. Richards does not repudiate Rabon, but attempts to distinguish it. She notes that the issue in the Rabon case had to do with dogs that had been declared "vicious" under the Seattle Municipal Code, while the word "vicious" does not appear in statute or in the Wahkiakum County Code. Brief, 18. Citing Justice Sanders's dissent as though it were the opinion of the court, she asserts that the court was concerned with the difference between "viciousness" and "dangerousness" exclusively, and that the court "viciousness" determined that was, in fact. "dangerousness." Id., 19. She then describes the holding of the Rabon court as being absolutely dependent on the difference between these terms. Id. But this is inaccurate.

Ms. Richards omits the <u>Rabon</u> court's own description of what it was deciding and how. The <u>Rabon</u> court did not concern itself with the distinction between "viciousness" and "dangerousness." It simply determined that there was no type of dog that a municipality was preempted from regulating.

The <u>Rabon</u> court ruled that potentially dangerous dogs shall be regulated only by local law, and "both local and state law may govern dangerous dogs." <u>Rabon</u>, 135 Wn.2d at 290 (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, local law may govern all kinds of dog. And this scheme meant one thing to the <u>Rabon</u> court – the same thing it should mean here – that no conflict between state and local law governing dogs can exist, so long as local law does not

permit what state law prohibits. The <u>Rabon</u> court went on to note:

Nothing in the statutes *clearly* indicates legislative intent that state law preempts. Absent any such clear indication, the presumption that an ordinance is constitutional, along with the rule that courts will not interpret a statute to deprive a municipality of the power to legislate on subjects within CONST. art. XI, §11 [police power], compels our holding that state law does not preempt local law.

Rabon, 135 Wn.2d at 291, citing State ex rel. Schillberg v. Everett Dist. Justice Court, 92 Wn.2d 106, 594 P.2d 448 (1979) (emphasis in original).

In her petition, Ms. Richards argues that changes in the law since this court decided <u>Rabon</u> argue for the reexamination of the case. <u>E.g.</u>, Petition, 23. But this position is undercut by her simultaneous admission that the changes were intended to "codify" <u>Rabon</u>. Petition, 24.

Ms. Richards's contention (Petition, 19, emphasis in original) that "the County's definition of dangerous in no way resembles or mirrors 'dangerous' under State law" is as irrelevant as it is erroneous. It is not just that the Wahkiakum definition of dangerous dog quotes RCW 16.08.070(2) practically verbatim and then adds a single phrase – "or domestic animals." It is not the same, but it in many ways "resembles or mirrors" the definition of "dangerous" in state law. But the real issue is that the Rabon court held that there is no conflict even when the definitions of "dangerous" in state and municipal code do not "mirror" each other. The Rabon court particularly addresses the very point at issue here, ruling that "in exercise of its police power, a municipality may wish to provide further protection from dangerous or vicious animals." Rabon, 35 Wn.2d at 628.

The constitutional issues in this case may have been "significant" for the purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(3) once upon a time, but the <u>Rabon</u> court settled them. Ms. Richards has given the court no reason to revisit or distinguish the holding, which is in line with traditional methods of conflict analysis in use in 1998 and in the present day.

### 3. RAP 13.4(b)(4)

The extent of the public interest in this issue is perhaps best expressed by the information Ms. Richards brings to us in her brief at 27-28 describing her view of it. She notes, without adding specifics of any sort, that "dogrelated crimes constitute a not insubstantial portion of the average criminal court docket." <u>Id</u>. "Not insubstantial" says nothing about what portion of the average criminal

court docket dog-related crimes are. And "not insubstantial" means "having substance," which basically means Ms. Richards is saying dog-related crimes exist. No vaguer claim could be made. To drill down on the amount of legal work dog-related crimes involve, Ms. Richards points to a single appellate case that involved dogs: City of Seattle v. Norman, 192 Wn.App. 1041 (2016), an unpublished case from seven years ago. The only other metric presented is a five-year-old study reflecting that 26.8% of Washingtonians owned dogs back then. Brief, 28 (where the respondent confusingly expresses the figure as 42.8% of 62.7% of Washingtonians). If that is a large number of dogs, then the number of appeals involving this kind of issue that Ms. Richards could point to - two would appear to be disproportionately small. The dogrelated criminal justice system seems to be sailing on course without this court's needing to put its hand on the rudder.

P.3d 903, 904 (2005), in which this court ruled that an issue of "substantial public interest" has been raised when the issue "has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue." See also In re Marriage of Ortiz, 108 Wn.2d 643, 740 P.2d 843 (1987), in which this court took up issues regarding the application of a recent decision it had made regarding child support awards – an inarguably massive source of litigation.

The County is willing to concede that people like dogs, but that alone does not mean that a case involving dogs must be attended to. Certainly, the petitioner has not established that people like dogs more now than they did when <u>Rabon</u> was decided. Furthermore, the system of animal regulation that the petitioner takes pains to describe as complicated, onerous, and ubiquitous, has in fact yielded relatively little litigation, and no proven public concern regarding any of the flaws the petitioner alleges. The County suggests that the <u>Rabon</u> case has answered all necessary questions, that the current case shows that the <u>Rabon</u> court properly instructed the Court of Appeals and lower courts on the law, and that no further instruction is required.

## VI. Cross-Appeal

Based on RAP 13.4(d), the County "wants to seek review of an issue not raised in the petition for review."

#### VII. Issue Presented for Review

 The Court of Appeals erred in ruling that the district court exceeded its sentencing authority by making the forfeiture of the offending animal to the Humane Society a condition of her suspended sentence.

### VIII. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

# RAP 13.4(b)(1): Conflict with Supreme Court

The Court of Appeals held that the District Court exceeded its sentencing authority by ordering, as a condition of Ms. Richards's sentence, that she hand the dangerous dog Thor over to the Humane Society. The court cited to a few cases to back up uncontroversial rules such as that courts abuse discretion when exceeding statutory authority. But the

only analogous authority on point cited by the Court of Appeals was State v. Deskins, 180 Wn.2d 68, 322 P.3d 780, (2014). In Deskins, the trial court ordered a condition that the defendant have no animals whatever during the period of her suspended sentence. <u>Deskins</u>, 180 Wn.2d at 76. Deskins argued that the statutory scheme requiring that she be banned from possessing "any similar animals" precluded the court's prohibition of possession of "any animals." Deskins, 180 Wn.2d at 79. The Supreme Court rejected the argument, noting that it "confuse[s] what a trial court must do with what it may do. The portion of former RCW 16.52.200(3) that deals with probation sets a floor for what a trial court must do when it orders forfeiture—it does not set the ceiling for the entire sentence. It ensures that trial courts order a prohibition on ownership in certain cases but does not prevent them from ordering it in others." <u>Id</u> (emphasis in original).

The County cited <u>Deskins</u> as an example of what a municipal court is permitted to do under the sentencing authority granted by RCW 3.66.067 (under which the court "may place the defendant on probation for a period of no longer than two years and prescribe the conditions thereof"). The County's point was that the <u>Deskins</u> court permitted the magistrate to ban the possession of all animals even though statute required it to impose a similar, but lesser, restriction. The <u>Deskins</u> court approved a greater restriction than was imposed in the instant case, for the <u>Deskins</u> trial court's sentence required the defendant to have no animals whatever, while this trial court's

sentence permitted Ms. Richards to have any and all animals whatsoever, saving only one.

In response, the Court of Appeals simply noted that <a href="Deskins">Deskins</a> did not decide the exact same limitation at issue here, and made its own path from there — noting that there are other statutes that provide for the death of animals without noting that there are also other statutes that provide for the taking away of peoples' animals as occurred in Deskins.

The error of the Court of Appeals was in limiting the <a href="Deskins">Deskins</a> ruling strictly to its facts rather than accepting the <a href="Deskins">Deskins</a> court's actual ruling. That ruling was that a court of limited jurisdiction is empowered by RCW 3.66.067 to prescribe any conditions. Washington courts have previously observed that "The statutes give judges broad

authority to suspend jail time in misdemeanor cases, to impose conditions upon suspended sentences, and to revoke the suspension in whole or in part upon violation of a condition of probation." Wahleithner v. Thompson, 134 Wn.App. 931, 939, 143 P.3d 321, 324 (2006). These lower courts have trenchantly observed,

Probation outside the SRA is not a matter of right but a matter of grace, privilege, or clemency "granted to the deserving, and withheld from the undeserving, as sound official discretion may dictate." See State v. Farmer, 39 Wn.2d 675, 679, 237 P.2d 734 (1951). In this older version of probation, which remains applicable to misdemeanants, a court may impose probationary conditions that bear a reasonable relation to the defendant's duty to make restitution or that tend to prevent the future commission of crimes. State v. Summers, 60 Wn.2d 702, 707, 375 P.2d 143 (1962).

State v. Williams, 97 Wn.App. 257, 263, 983 P.2d 687, 691 (1999).

What the <u>Summers</u> court observed in 1962 remains true today: as to those subject to misdemeanor probation, the only check on the sentencing discretion of the court is that the defendant's probation must involve restitution, or, more relevant here, "tend to prevent the future commission of crimes." <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Summers</u>, this court took up the question whether the defendant, who committed manslaughter by striking someone with his fist who died of the blow, could be required under a condition of suspended sentence (a possibility then in Superior Court as it remains today in District Court) to faithfully pay child support for his own children – not the victim's children, the defendant's children. Summers, 60 Wn.2d at 707.

The court ruled against this sentence condition for three reasons, two of which are not relevant here and one of which is. The first irrelevant reason is that the statute the court interpreted – which is different from the probation statute for District Court today – did not provide for compliance with orders for financial support yet to be handed down by the courts. <u>Id</u>. The second irrelevant reason is that the order improperly delegated the amount of child support payments to the probation officer rather than the court – an issue not instructive here. <u>Id</u>., at 708.

The ruling that carries through to the present day is one the <a href="Summers">Summers</a> court described by quoting at length from an Arizona Supreme Court decision, the wisdom of which it recognized and adopted:

We are reluctant indeed to interfere with the discretion exercised by the trial court in imposing conditions on a suspension of a sentence, and shall uphold any such conditions which on any reasonable theory tend to cause a defendant to make reparation for any crime which he may have committed, or to restrain him or others from the commission in the future of other crimes; but where the condition has no bearing on either of these two matters, but relates only to a future moral and not legal obligation, we think it is an abuse of the discretion vested in the trial court to fix such condition in the first place, or to revoke the suspension of sentence theretofore granted for no other reason than a failure on the part of defendant to fulfill the illegal condition. . . .

Summers, supra, 60 Wn.2d at 707-08, quoting Redewill v. Superior Court of Maricopa Cy., 43 Ariz. 68, 81, 29 P.2d 475 (1934).

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